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The Rockingham Meeting House is the earliest public building in Vermont in nearly origi­ 
nal condition; one other meeting house in the state dates earlier but has been severely 
altered.

The 2%-story, wood frame building, with a low stone foundation, is clad in clapboards 
and has a gabled roof sheathed in slate (added during the 1906 restoration). The main 
mass of the Meeting House is rectangular with enclosed "porches", or stairways, at each 
gable end. Following traditional meeting house form, the principal entry is in the 
center of the long side of the rectangle, and is directly opposite the pulpit.

The main (south) facade is 7 bays wide. The centrally located door surround has fluted 
Doric pilasters supporting a heavily molded entablature surmounted by a triangular 
pediment with a modillion cornice; the door is double leaf. The flanking first floor 
windows have molded heads; the second floor windows have plain surrounds and butt the 
entablature. All the windows are double hung and measure 6 T x 3' with 20/20 sash and 
retain many of the original lights. The building has a modillion block cornice with 
returns but no corner pilasters.

The rear (north) side, overlooking the Rockingham Burying Yard, is also 7 bays wide. 
The first and second stories contain 6 windows each, with the same detail and spacing 
as the main (south) facade. Centrally located, and mid-way between the first and 
second floors, is a round headed, double hung window which frames the speaker on the 
interior. This side also has a modillion block cornice with returns.

The five-bay east and west gable ends are identical, each having a central 2-story 
projecting gable-roofed "porch" or stairwell. The porch is flanked on each side and 
at each of the two floor levels by two 20/20 sash windows with molded heads like those 
on the north and south facades. A window with the same detail is in the gable peak 
of the main block.

The porches at the east and west gable ends have no windows on the north sides. Each 
has a 15/20 sash window with a molded window head at the first floor level of the 
gable end; a simplified version of the main front door on the south facade below a 
15/20 sash window; and a simple molded cornice with returns.

The interior of the Meeting House is in restored condition (see Statement of Signifi­ 
cance) . Around the perimeter of the space are 24 box pews which are raised a step 
above the main floor level. In the center are two groups of 6 box pews which are sepa­ 
rated from the wall pews and from each other by an "alley" or aisle. Each box pew seats 
10-15 people. Between the center pews and the pulpit are six long benches and in front 
of the pulpit is a narrow enclosed pew for the deacons, tithingmen and other church 
officers.

The pulpit, centrally located along the rear (north) wall, is 9 feet above the floor 
and is reached by stairs on the left (west) side. Above the pulpit and affixed to the 
wall is the original sounding board.
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The gallery, around three sides of the Meeting House, has about 3/4 the floor space 
as the first floor. This level is reached from the stairways in the enclosed porches 
at the gable ends. Here there are 24 box pews with three rows of narrow benches in 
front; the floor of the gallery slopes downward.

The interior of the Meeting House is painted white with the box pews, benches, pulpit, 
pulpit window and sounding board unpainted or unvarnished natural wood. The window 
sash, plain surrounds and gallery face are painted a flat light gray-blue.

Providing interest to the severe interior of the Meeting House are the turned spindles 
in the pew rails, the raised paneled gallery, the pulpit and the round headed window 
behind the pulpit which is enframed by fluted pilasters supporting an entablature, 
and the sounding board.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Rockingham Meeting House is Vermont's finest example of an early public building. 
This building, replacing an earlier public meeting house, was started in 1787 or 1788 
but not completed until 1801. The structure, which served for both religious and civil 
meetings, is located on a hillside overlooking the Williams River valley.^ At the time 
of its construction there was no concentration of population within the town of Rock­ 
ingham and a site near the geographical center of the town was chosen for the Meeting 
House Lot. Although there are no original plans for the Meeting House, Rockingham 
Town Records show that by 1799 t 189:0:7 had been expended for the building; the struc­ 
ture still had to be painted and the windows glazed.

The Rockingham Meeting House represents the second phase of meeting house style in New 
England. The first style was basically square with a hipped roof. This was followed 
by the Rockingham MEETING House type which is rectangular with a gabled roof. The 
entrance is on the long side with the pulpit directly opposite. Asher Benjamin, in his 
Country Builder's Assistant (1797) helped to bring about a third phase and major change 
which was strongly influenced by English ideas. Meeting houses were now called churches 
and the pulpit and entrance were relocated at opposite ends of the long axis of the 
buildings. The entrance was located in a tower at the gable end, as in the Strafford 
(VT) Town House (built 1799, entered on the National Register, June 20, 1974) and later 
with the tower incorporated within the building mass as in the Old West Church in Calais, 
VT (built 1832, entered on the National Register, May 8, 1973).

The Rockingham Meeting House is the only example of its type in Vermont and is one of the 
best preserved examples in New England.

The Rockingham Meeting House served as town church until about 1838 when the Church 
organization began to fall apart. The last record known of a church organization using 
the Meeting House is September 16, 1840, by this time villages had developed in the town 
and the different church denominations had built their own structures. The Town of 
Rockingham continued to use the Meeting House for annual Town Meetings until 1869, at 
which time the village of Bellows Falls had become the center of Rockingham ! s population 
and meetings were moved there for convenience.

Over the years (1840-1905) minor changes were made to the interior of the Meeting House; 
the exterior was unchanged. In 1851 the pulpit was lowered and the row of benches in 
front of it had been removed for the convenience of the moderator at Town Meeting. Van­ 
dals and souvenir seekers had removed the hand-forged hinges from the box pew doors, 
whittled the unpainted wood, wrote graffiti on the white plaster walls, and had removed 
all but two of the turned spindles from the pew rails.
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Charles Richa.rds and Nathaniel Davis and presented to the Town of Rockingham in 
1782, as recorded in the land records of the Town of Rockingham.
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In 1906 the Town of Rockingham appropriated $500, which was matched by $700 in private 
donations, to restore the deserted and vacant Meeting House. A leading force behind 
the restoration was Mrs. Horace W. Thompson, a great-granddaughter of one of the ori­ 
ginal members of the Rockingham First Church. The restoration was supervised by Myron 
H. Ray, First Selectman of Rockingham. In the restoration the old wood shingle roof 
was replaced by dark slate, the later added wood stoves removed, 60 pew doors recon­ 
structed, replicas made of the forged pew door hinges, 1400 turned spindles installed 
in the pew rails, the pulpit rebuilt as near its original form as could be determined, 
and the row of front benches replaced. California Redwood was used for all new work; 
this resembles the original native White Pine but can be distinguished from it while 
not detracting from the visual impact of the simple interior.

To the north of (behind) the Meeting House is the first permanent burying ground esta­ 
blished in Rockingham. The first burial in the Meeting House lot was in 1782 before 
the Meeting House was even erected. The cemetery, with both slate and marble stones, 
is known for its early slate stones with their naive spirit designs which, like many 
buildings built in Vermont, are a survival of an earlier style. These stones have 
been classified into four distinct stylistic groups carved by 4 or 5 different stone 
cutters.

The Rockingham Meeting House, cemetery and the surrounding acreage is one of the more 
important visual social documents of early town life in Vermont. The Meeting House, 
visible for miles because of its hillside location, has been carefully maintained since 
its painstaking restoration. It is open during the summer months for visitors and is 
the site of an annual "pilgrimage" in late July or early August when prominent speakers 
present a program on some phase of this historical or civil life of the area.

Early New England Meeting Houses sheltered both the religious and the governmental life 
of the community; the structures were in reality assembly halls. New Englanders had 
sought the freedom to remove elaborate ceremonies and forms from their worship. Orna­ 
mentation, however, was allowed in the pulpit area because it represented an area close 
to Heaven--a place thought to possess great beauty and richness. The Rockingham Meeting 
House exemplifies this 18th century thought and lifestyle and is Vermont's finest 
example from this period.
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the site of an annual "pilgrimage" in late July or early August when prominent speakers 
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of the community; the structures were in reality assembly halls. New Englanders had 
sought the freedom to remove elaborate ceremonies and forms from their worship. Orna­ 
mentation, however, was allowed in the pulpit area because it represented an area close 
to Heaven--a place thought to possess great beauty and richness. The Rockingham Meeting 
House exemplifies this 18th century thought and lifestyle and is Vermont's finest 
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